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INTRODUCTION


The war was not ‘over by Christmas’ as the 1914 slogan had proclaimed and by the end of that year the BEF were in the stalemate of trench warfare and fairly disillusioned about the prospect of a swift victory. The British troops had suffered badly in the early campaigns and by January 1915 were holding about 30 miles of actual trenches, a small fraction of that held by their French allies. Reinforcements were needed and General Sir John French, C-in-C of the BEF, felt under pressure to carry out some sort of offensive operation. This was prompted first by the withdrawal of German divisions from the Western to the Eastern Front and the fear of a decisive German victory over Russia, and secondly by the need to boost morale among his own troops.


Joffre, French’s counterpart in the French Army, also wanted the British to take a greater part in the drive to oust Germany from conquered areas. Initially, to facilitate French Army plans for action in the New Year, Joffre demanded the relief of French units north of Ypres by British troops so that French troops belonging to the same Army group were not separated by British units.


Sir John French had an initial meeting in January 1915 with Joffre to air his proposals for offensive action. His idea of a swift knock-out blow using overwhelming numerical superiority and a short, heavy artillery barrage to precede the attack at Neuve Chapelle fitted in well with Joffre’s plans and showed a willingness on the part of the British to take some of the burden of the war. The battle was to be a British ‘show’ with limited French artillery in support. Forty-eight battalions on a narrow frontage were to be launched against a mere nine German battalions opposite. Morale among the attackers was high; the promise of victory, given the favourable odds and the elation created by the heavy barrage on the enemy positions, gave the troops confidence. Initially, despite setbacks on each flank, the main thrust of the attack was successful and broke through the lines. All the ground won in this battle was taken in the first three hours. The tragedy was that there was no swift follow-up of the advantages achieved. The ‘rolling-up’ of the line from behind was not realised. Neuve Chapelle was to be the first of a number of British actions that year in which the Germans seemed to learn lessons more quickly than the British Command.


The same principle as employed at Neuve Chapelle was used again with minor modifications in the later offensives of Aubers Ridge and Festubert but without the success realised on the first day of Neuve Chapelle. Prior to these two battles the British attacked successfully at Hill 60 on 17 April. German determination to protect the gas cylinders secretly laid in readiness for a general attack against Ypres and the need to retain the vantage point of the hill for artillery spotting in bombarding the Ypres area, led to savage fighting and outstanding bravery on both sides, resulting in the awarding of several VCs including Woolley, the first Territorial VC, before the British were finally driven off the hill.


During the fighting on Hill 60 the Germans launched a general offensive against Ypres on 22 April using poison gas to open the way forward. The brunt of the attack was borne by the Canadians whose steadfastness and courage in the face of this new weapon is commemorated by the monument at Vancouver Corner near St Julien. Canada’s first VC of the war was won on the opening day of the Second Battle of Ypres.


Operations quietened down after the battle for Ypres and the British prepared a retaliatory attack at Loos, using chlorine gas for the first time. Loos was a bloody failure but the high rate of casualties sustained in the battle confirmed for Joffre, finally, as the earlier efforts had promised, a real British commitment to drive the Germans from French soil. General Sir John French’s handling of the Battle of Loos culminated in his ignominious removal from command, just as General Sir Horace Smith-Dorrien was ousted from command by French during the Second Battle of Ypres. General Sir Douglas Haig took command of the BEF at the end of the year.


An important contributory factor to the lack of British operational success in 1915 was a shortage of artillery shells. Always a problem, the situation became critical during the Battle of Aubers Ridge, after which French ‘leaked’ information to the press regarding the lack of artillery support owing to the shell crisis.


The second year of the war gave many opportunities for men to show courage ‘beyond the call of duty’. Sixty-seven VCs were awarded on the Western Front in 1915, of which twenty were posthumous. Just under a third of the recipients were officers. There were a number of ‘firsts’ in this year, some of which were used usefully for propaganda at home. The first Irish VC of the war, Michael O’Leary, was made much of, being lauded, paraded and used in recruiting drives to inspire others to the Colours.


Territorial units, originally intended purely for home defence, were now given the opportunity to volunteer for overseas service. This enabled Geoffrey Woolley, who had volunteered on the day war broke out, to transfer to a unit with better prospects of going to France. His ambition was realised and within months of arriving he had earned the first Territorial VC of the war.


As one might expect, the VCs came from all walks of life and those who came home found equally varied fortunes in their post-war lives. John Smyth recognised the exclusiveness of the award and helped found the VC and GC Association in 1956; they held their first reunion at the Café Royal, London on 24 July 1958.


The book is arranged in broadly chronological order, though we felt it better to include men within the context of particular battles, and as a result a few men are not in strict date order. Although we have consulted numerous sources we would be grateful for any further information that readers may have. One thing that struck us during the writing of this book is that however much we try to empathise we cannot understand fully the grim conditions these men endured and fought in. The courage, determination and sacrifice of their generation must never be forgotten.




M.J. O’LEARY


Cuinchy, France, 1 February
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The year 1915 opened in northern France with the opposing forces facing each other in water-logged trenches and fortifications, separated by a narrow strip of no-man’s-land. At Cuinchy, immediately south of the La Bassée Canal, the British line formed a salient from the canal on the left, running east towards the Railway Triangle (formed by the Béthune–La Bassée railway and the junction of another line towards Vermelles), then south to the La Bassée–Béthune Road, where it joined French positions (see map here).


There had been a number of German attacks in the Cuinchy sector during January, culminating in a large-scale offensive on 25 January when the enemy penetrated into the above salient, forcing men of the 1st Scots Guards and 1st Coldstream Guards (CG) (1st Bde) back to partially prepared positions 500 yards west of the Railway Triangle. The Germans renewed their attacks on 29 January but were repulsed with heavy losses.


During the evening of 30 January the 4th (Guards) Bde moved forward to take over the front line, and 2nd CG, 2nd Bde, took over the thousand yards of front line in front of the ruins of Cuinchy with 1st Irish Guards (IG) in support. 1st IG were allocated positions east of the La Bassée–Béthune Road and in the centre of its line was a collection of huge brick stacks, originally 30 feet high. There were nearly thirty of these stacks, five held by the British and the remainder in German hands; converted for defence, they were connected by a complex system of trenches and saps. Apart from these stacks the area was flat and difficult to defend; the only raised areas were the canal and the railway, because it ran on a 16 ft high embankment, separated from the canal by a tow-path.


The right of the German line rested on the Railway Triangle. A little over 200 yards to the west was the area known as the Hollow: a narrow 20 yard wide strip lying to the south of the railway embankment. At the western end of the Hollow was a canal lock, which was crossed by the railway via a girder bridge, and about 60 yards east was a brick culvert through which the tow-path was reached. No. 4 Coy, 2nd CG, held the left of the line with its flank on this culvert. In the early hours of 1 February, a German attack was directed at the CG which forced No. 4 Coy to retire to a barricade erected in the Hollow.


A British counter-attack was organized and at 04.00 hours fifty men of CG supported by No. 4 Coy IG attacked along the tow-path, and the Hollow. This attack was halted 30 yards short of the enemy position near the culvert. The Irish Guards lost all the officers from No. 4 Coy. 2/Lt Innes, No. 1 Coy IG, was ordered forward to take command of the survivors of No. 4 Coy and to withdraw them to the railway bridge, leaving a party holding the barricade in the Hollow. Innes himself stayed at this barricade.


Orders were issued by 1st Bde to retake the lost position at 10.15 hours and after a 15 minute artillery bombardment the counter-attack began. Fifty men of CG led the assault followed by thirty men of No. 1 Coy IG under Lt Graham; the men carried filled sandbags, spades and two boxes of bombs as their task was to consolidate the position once it was captured. No. 2 Coy IG maintained covering fire and 2/Lt Innes, with his small party, was ordered to maintain his position. As the CG advance faltered, 2/Lt Innes was ordered to lead his men forward, which he did ‘in a very bold manner’.


L/Cpl Michael O’Leary, 2/Lt Innes’s orderly, was with his officer in the Hollow. On the command to advance, O’Leary ran quickly on, outdistancing the men with him, mounted the railway embankment, fired five times at the German machine-gun crew at the barricade, and killed them. At a second enemy barricade, 60 yards further on, another enemy machine-gun was preparing for action. The ground between the two positions was too marshy for a direct approach so O’Leary again climbed the railway embankment and ran towards the Germans. He was seen by them and as they attempted to turn the machine gun towards him he shot three of its crew. The remaining two Germans immediately surrendered, not realizing that O’Leary had now fired all the cartridges in his magazine. He then returned to the original line with his prisoners. According to a witness, ‘O’Leary came back from his killing as cool as if he had been for a walk in the park’.


The IG Battalion War Diary says, ‘This was a fine piece of work and he [O’Leary] has been recommended for reward.’ O’Leary’s reward was the Victoria Cross which was gazetted on 18 February and he was presented with it by the King at Buckingham Palace on 22 June 1915. His VC, the first won by a member of the Irish Guards, was the first to be won on the Western Front in 1915.
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The third of four children, Michael John O’Leary was born on 29 September 1890 at Kilbarry Lodge, Inchigeela, 10 miles from Macroom in County Cork, Ireland. His parents Daniel and Margaret ran a small farm where Michael worked after attending Kilbarry National School and at the age of 16 he joined the Royal Navy. Attached to HMS Vivid he served for some years before being invalided out with rheumatism in the knees; he returned to work on his father’s farm for a few months before enlisting in the Irish Guards on 2 July 1910.


He was placed on the Reserve after his three years’ Home Service with the 1st Battalion and applied to join the Royal North-West Mounted Police (RNWMP), Canada. On 2 August 1913 he was engaged, as constable no. 5685, for a three-year term in the RNWMP at Regina, Saskatchewan. He soon displayed his courage, taking part in a two-hour running battle with two gunmen; after their capture, he was presented with a gold ring which he wore for the rest of his life.
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Cuinchy area


He was granted a free discharge from the RNWMP on 22 September 1914 in order to rejoin the British Army. Returning to England, he was mobilized on 22 October, going to France on 23 November to join his battalion, 1st Irish Guards. After only a short time in France, O’Leary was Mentioned in Despatches for gallantry, and was promoted lance-corporal on 5 January 1915; on 4 February he was promoted sergeant in the field after his VC-winning action. An item appeared in the New York Times of 28 May 1915 reporting that an artilleryman serving at the front had written to a friend, ‘Sergeant Michael O’Leary, V.C. was killed in the last battle’.


O’Leary’s bravery captured the public’s imagination and a large reception was held in Hyde Park, London, on Saturday 10 July 1915. Thousands of Londoners turned out and accorded him a hero’s welcome. Among other tributes the Daily Mail published a poem about him, a ballad about his exploits was performed before the King, and a short play was written by George Bernard Shaw. On his return to Ireland, O’Leary was greeted by crowds at Macroom but when his father, a strong nationalist, and a prize-winning weightlifter and footballer in his youth, was asked by a reporter to comment on his son’s courage, he replied, ‘I am surprised he didn’t do more. I often laid out twenty men myself with a stick coming from the Macroom Fair, and it is a bad trial of Mick that he could kill only eight, and he having a rifle and bayonet.’


After receiving the award of the Cross of St George, 3rd Class (Russia), in August, O’Leary was commissioned into the Connaught Rangers as a second lieutenant on 23 October. On a recruiting drive in Ballaghaderrin, Ireland, he was jeered by Ulster Volunteers, an incident which led to questions being asked in the House of Commons on 6 December. Serving with the 5th Bn Connaught Rangers in Salonika, O’Leary was again Mentioned in Despatches, and after a posting to Macedonia retired from the Army in 1921, his final service being at Dover with the 2nd Battalion.


Leaving his wife Greta and two children in Ireland, he returned to Canada in March 1921, reputedly to rejoin the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (the name of the RNWMP since February 1920), but for reasons unknown he did not do so. Instead, he first gave lectures on the war and then spent a brief period in a publishing house before joining the Ontario Provincial Police during 1921 as a licence inspector for the enforcement of prohibition, a post he held for two years. His wife and twin boys having joined him, O’Leary was then appointed sergeant of police on the Michigan Central Railway, stationed at Bridgeburg, Ontario, at a salary of £33 per month.


As he later informed a Daily Mail reporter:





I was with Michigan Central for two years. Unfortunately on the railway I came into contact with bootlegging and smuggling interests … A detective has to take bribes to keep his mouth shut or else people are out to get him.





O’Leary was arrested in 1925, charged with smuggling an alien into Buffalo, USA, from Bridgeburg; after a delay of some months the court acquitted him of the charge. In the autumn of the same year he was again arrested, charged with ‘irregularity in a search for liquor’. He spent a week in an American jail but was again acquitted at a later trial. He was not reinstated in his job by the Michigan Central Railway.


After he had been unemployed for several months, the authorities at Hamilton, Ontario, advanced the money (£70) for passage to Ireland for O’Leary and his family and in October 1926 his wife and four children sailed from Montreal, on the Letitia, for Ireland, where an uncle had promised to look after them. O’Leary stayed in Canada having been promised a ‘suitable position’ by the Ontario Attorney General and worked in Hamilton for a time, during which period he suffered several bouts of malaria, contracted in Salonika. Finally, he left Canada. The British Legion heard of his parlous state and employed him for some time as a packer in its poppy factory in England.


In 1932, while he was working as a commissionaire at the Mayfair Hotel, Park Lane, London, he took part in the ‘Cavalcade Ball’ held there in aid of the ‘Journey’s End’ home for disabled officers; together with A.O. Pollard VC, he served tin mugs of rum to the distinguished audience.


He continued working at the hotel until called up from the Reserve of Officers in June 1939 and went to France with the BEF as a captain in the Middlesex Regiment. He was invalided back to England before the evacuation at Dunkirk, transferred to the Pioneer Corps and put in charge of a prisoner of war camp in the south of England. Discharged from the Army on medical grounds in 1945, he returned to civilian life as a building contractor, in which trade he worked until his retirement in 1954.


He attended the Victory Parade in June 1946 but at the 1956 Centenary VC Review held in Hyde Park, London, he was impersonated by a man in a bathchair.


O’Leary lived in the same district of London for more than thirty years, originally at Southborne Avenue, Colindale, but in later years at Oakleigh Avenue and Limesdale Gardens, Edgeware. He died at Whittington Hospital, Islington, on 1 August 1961 after a long illness and was buried at Mill Hill Cemetery, Paddington. After the funeral service at the Roman Catholic Annunciation Church at Burnt Oak, the coffin was saluted by Guards officers as it left the church and it was accompanied by a ‘lone piper’ through the cemetery. Six of O’Leary’s seven children were at the funeral, including twins Daniel and Jeremiah, both winners of the DFC in the Second World War.


In July 1962 O’Leary’s medals – VC, 1914 Star and Bar, BVM, with MID, BWM, Cross of the Order of St George, 3rd Class (Russia), Coronation Medals for 1937 and 1953, and Defence Medal 1939–45 – were presented to the Irish Guards by his family. Although O’Leary also wore his 1914 Star with a Bar, and always claimed that he was entitled to do so, his military records show he arrived in France one day too late for such entitlement.




THE BATTLE OF NEUVE CHAPELLE


10–12 March


On 15 February Sir John French asked the First Army Commander, Gen. Sir Douglas Haig, to draft a plan for an offensive with the line La Bassée–Aubers Ridge as its objective. Haig’s subsequent plan of attack was for the Meerut and 8th Division (Indian and VI Corps respectively), to break through the German line at Neuve Chapelle between Port Arthur and the Moated Grange, and to fan out to right and left; the Lahore and 7th Divisions would assault on either side of the breach. The Cavalry Corps would then ride through to the Aubers Ridge and wheel right behind the enemy line, with supporting infantry consolidating along the Ridge. An artillery barrage was planned to precede the infantry attack: the German wire and breastworks were to be bombarded by nearly 300 field guns and howitzers, and the enemy batteries shelled by heavy artillery.


When the artillery bombardment began on 10 March the enemy wire and breastworks were largely destroyed, leaving significant gaps in the defences. Eight battalions advanced at 08.30 hours and in less than half an hour a breach some 1600 yards long was made in the enemy line. Problems arose on both flanks; on the right the 1/39th Garhwalis advanced in the wrong direction and attacked undamaged German defences, and on the left a 200 yard long stretch of the German breastworks was left untouched as two siege batteries had arrived too late.


The centre battalions were ordered to advance only 200 yards beyond the enemy breastworks and wait while the village was subjected to further shelling. This delay took away some of the advantage gained by the surprise attack. During the bombardment the Germans occupied some of the recently constructed machine-gun strongpoints (Stützpunkte) which were located 1,000 yards to the rear of their breastworks, and positioned 800 yards apart to cover much of the flat ground.


Having advanced through the village, the leading battalions were ordered to wait until both flanks of the attack could advance; consequently, the battalions supporting them could not advance as planned, causing a bottleneck west of Neuve Chapelle as several battalions were held up in the traffic jam.


As both Corps HQ were some 4 to 5 miles from Neuve Chapelle and separate from each other, up-to-date information took some time to reach the Corps Commanders, Rawlinson and Willcocks. It was not until early afternoon that Rawlinson became aware of the situation of his forward battalions and he ordered a resumption of the attack in conjunction with Indian Corps. However, the orders took three hours to reach the front-line battalions and so the attack did not take place until it was nearly dark. It failed.


A further attack was ordered for the next day. Due to poor artillery support, the gunners were unable to register their shots in the mist, and this, combined with the fact that the Germans had brought up reinforcements during the night, meant that this attack was also not successful.


The Germans launched a counter-attack early on 12 March, superseding a planned British attack ordered for that morning. The enemy attack was halted, with very heavy losses inflicted on the attackers. Because of poor communications, Army HQ received little accurate information about the German attack for several hours, and at 15.00 hours Haig, convinced that the Germans were ‘much demoralized’, ordered both Corps to ‘push through the barrage of fire regardless of loss’, and ordered 5th Cavalry Bde to move forward in support. Again the orders took some time to reach the battalions concerned and those which attacked were repelled with severe casualties. The action was called off later that night.


British casualties for the battle exceeded 11,600, with German losses almost as high. Virtually all the ground gained had been taken in the first three hours, and despite the unwieldy nature of the British force (under two Corps Commanders) operating in a relatively small area, and the poor and confused communications, the Battle of Neuve Chapelle was nevertheless significant for it proved to the French that the British were capable of attacking and were not just a defensive force.




GOBAR SING NEGI


Neuve Chapelle, France, 10 March


The Garhwal Bde (Meerut Division), comprising the 2nd Leicester, 3rd London, 2/3rd Gurkha Rifles, 1/39th and 2/39th Garhwal Rifles were ordered to carry out an attack on the south-western sector of Neuve Chapelle. The start positions ran from Port Arthur for about 500 yards along the Estaires–La Bassée Road where the battalions designated for the attack moved up during the early hours of 10 March (see map opposite).


On the left of the Brigade was 2/39th Garhwal Rifles under Lt-Col. D.H. Drake-Brockman; their assembly position was to the left of the road which led to the village of Neuve Chapelle. The defences projected in a small salient and Drake-Brockman observed that the ground in front of the main German line sloped more steeply in front of a ditch close to the La Bassée Road. Consequently, he ordered a passage to be cut in the breastworks and a shallow trench to be dug on the eastern bank of the ditch, which offered some cover to the front companies before the attack. The battalion moved up to the front line and at 05.15 hours Nos. 1 and 2 Coys filed out to the shallow trench.
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Neuve Chapelle


The artillery bombardment commenced at 07.30 hours, the flight of howitzer shells clearly visible up to the point of impact in the German trenches. Promptly at 08.05 hours the leading companies doubled across the intervening space between the lines. No 1 Coy, on the right, advanced on an orchard, which ran at right angles to their line of attack. They found the front line empty but captured a machine-gun and some prisoners in the second line; the third line was also easily taken but in the subsequent advance to a trench behind the orchard, several men were killed by an enemy machine-gun positioned to the left.


No. 2 Coy, on the left, had a longer approach to the first-line trenches as the German line angled back sharply from the orchard so that the men on the far left of the battalion had almost twice as much ground to cover as those on the right. Parties from No. 2 Coy eventually worked up to the German front-line trench but met considerable opposition. It seems that either the artillery bombardment was less effective in this area, or the longer approach gave the enemy sufficient time to man their defences.


The British line bent sharply north-east some 200 to 300 yards from Pont Logy, and so one part of the German front line, held by 12th Coy, 16th Regt, was not directly attacked by infantry, for both the Garhwal Bde, on the right, and the 25th Bde, on its left, were advancing roughly at right angles from the breastworks, on a line that met at a point behind the enemy main line.


No. 2 Coy split up and those on the left began to clear the trenches. A section under Naik (Cpl) Jaman Sing Bisht drove a party of Germans up the trench towards No. 1 Coy, forcing many of them to surrender. For this action the Naik was later awarded the Indian Order of Merit, Second Class.


The most prestigious award of the day, however, went to 1683, Rfn Gobar Sing Negi, a bayonet man with the bombers of No. 2 Coy, who was awarded a posthumous Victoria Cross. In his book The Royal Garhwal Rifles in the Great War, Drake-Brockman described the action thus:





 … the other half [of No. 2 Coy] remained on working up the trench towards their left to gain touch with the British regiment on the right. It was in one of these parties bombing up the trench to the left, whose commander had been killed, that one of the party, Rifleman Gobar Sing Negi, had the initiative to assume command and carry on bombing and rounding up prisoners and working up the trench. This action also drove others of the enemy into the hands of the British unit on our left. A machine gun detachment was thus captured. He, gallant fellow, was unfortunately killed later on, but I am glad to say he was awarded the Victoria Cross for his great gallantry that day …





The Garhwal Rifles moved on and linked up with British units on their left, clearing the remaining Germans out of the buildings in the eastern part of the village. A position east of the village was established in support of 2/3rd Gurkhas and the battalion remained in these trenches for the remainder of the day. Their total casualties were relatively light: 3 Indian Officers and 57 other ranks killed, 2 Indian Officers and 71 other ranks wounded; they captured 3 machine-guns, 3 officers and 187 other ranks. Some of the prisoners were identified as men with whom the Garhwalis had fraternized on Christmas Day 1914.


The battalion suffered over thirty casualties on the 11th, although it was not actually involved in any attack, and later moved to billets near Croix Marmeuse where it remained throughout the next day before returning to billets at Zelobes on the evening of the 13th. Negi’s VC citation was published in the London Gazette on 28 April 1915.
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Gobar Sing Negi (Gabbar Singh Negi) was born on 7 October 1893 at Manjaur village, near Chamba, in the State of Tehri, part of the original Kingdom of Garhwal. The son of Badri Sing, he enlisted in the 39th Garhwhal Rifles in October 1913.


This regiment was formed in 1887, and first became known as the Garhwal Rifles in 1892; the second battalion was created in 1901. Originally composed of hillmen who had previously served in Gurkha regiments, the Garhwal Rifles wore Gurkha-style uniforms and carried the kukri.


Gobar Sing Negi’s Victoria Cross was sent by the War Office to the India Office on 28 July 1915 for presentation to his next of kin. It was acquired (as was the Victoria Cross of Darwan Sing Negi, 1st Bn) by his regiment, and a duplicate was sent to his widow. A painting by J. Princep Beadle, entitled ‘Neuve Chapelle, March 10th 1915’, shows members of the Rifle Brigade and Garhwal Rifles moving past ruined houses; this painting was later purchased by Lt-Col. Drake-Brockman.


Since 1925 the Gabbar Singh Negi Fair has been held annually on 20/21 April (depending on the Hindu calendar) and organised by members of his family. A strong Indian Army presence including bands, athletic displays and recruiting rallies attracted many villagers from some distance. In 1971 the Garhwal Regiment adopted the Fair and an impressive memorial was built. During the last few years the military interest appears to have waned but the family has continued the tradition with a procession to the memorial followed by a ceremony and wreath laying by family members including Gabbar Singh Negi’s grandson, Kamal Singh.


On 6 November 2002 HM The Queen unveiled the Commonwealth Gates at the Hyde Park Corner end of Constitution Hill. Comprising four stone gate posts, two each side of the road, each surmounted by a bronze urn and a domed pavilion (or chattri) on the north side of the road. Country names, India, Pakistan, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka, Africa, Caribbean and Kingdom of Nepal are inscribed on the gate pillars. The names of 70 Victoria Cross and George Cross winners, including Gabbar Singh Negi, are inscribed within the domed roof.


On 10 June 1970 the New Delhi Evening News ran a story about the fate of VCs awarded to Indian soldiers, and pictured the widow of Gobar Sing Negi wearing his medals, including the Victoria Cross. The newspaper, questioning what would happen to this award, seemed to be unaware that she was almost certainly wearing the replica VC.


Inscribed upon the Neuve Chapelle Indian Memorial at Port Arthur are the names of all members of the Indian Corps killed in France who have no known resting place. The names include Rfn Gobar Sing Negi VC, together with 140 other members of his battalion.




W. BUCKINGHAM


Neuve Chapelle, France, 10/12 March
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The second Victoria Cross won at Neuve Chapelle was awarded to another man from the Garhwal Bde, Pte William Buckingham, 2nd Bn, Leicester Regt, who received his award for saving lives during the battle. Early on 10 March his battalion, deployed in its assembly positions, suffered a number of casualties when German artillery opened fire on the Port Arthur defences. The leading companies of the battalion advanced and with relative ease crossed the German front line, which was defended by 10th Coy, 16th Infantry Regt, and occupied a line of trenches near the River Layes (see map here).


On the battalion’s right was a section of German front line, about 200 yards long, which was not attacked in the initial assault. This stretch of trench was assigned to 1/39th Garhwal Rifles. It was not an easy task, for not only had the trench escaped much of the artillery bombardment as shells fell behind the German front line, but the Garhwalis had veered off in an easterly direction instead of following their intended north-east line of advance as they left their assembly positions at Port Arthur. As a result, the Germans in the trench had escaped virtually unscathed and were ‘full of fight’. Brave efforts were made to dislodge them but it was not until about 17.00 hours that ‘A’ Coy, assisted by other British units, finally forced them to surrender. The Leicesters remained in their captured trenches throughout 11 March under shell-fire. A German counter-attack was launched early on the next day but was repulsed with very heavy loss of life to the attackers. The battalion helped to halt this attack, with the enemy on its right unable to get closer than 100 yards.


The next day, 13 March, the battalion continued to hold its trenches despite sniper and artillery fire, but by midnight it had been relieved and reached its billets early on 14 March. The four days at Neuve Chapelle had cost 250 casualties, and much praise was accorded those who assisted the wounded; the highest accolade was reserved for 6276 Pte Buckingham, who was awarded the VC. The authors of The Indian Corps in France described his actions:





During the attack [of the 10th] and again on 12 March, Private William Buckingham, 2nd Leicesters, on several occasions displayed the greatest bravery and devotion in rescuing and aiding wounded men. Time after time he went out in the heaviest fire and brought in those who would certainly have perished. In the performance of this noble work, Private Buckingham was severely wounded in the chest and arm.





The London Gazette published his VC citation on 28 April 1915.
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The eldest son of William John and Annie Susan Billington, William Henry Billington was born in the second quarter of 1886 in Bedford. His brother, Frederick Ernest, was born the following year and both boys were placed in the Countesthorpe Cottage Homes by the time William was six. This was probably due to the hardship brought on by the death early in 1888 of William John Billington when he was less than twenty years old. Annie Billington remarried in the summer of 1891, her new husband being Thomas Henry Buckingham. It would appear that when the two brothers entered the Home they were enrolled with the name of Buckingham, their mother’s then married name. The colony of cottages which formed the Homes was run by a superintendent, Mr Harrison, whose wife was the matron. A local newspaper reported that Mrs Harrison described Buckingham as one of the nicest lads they had ever had. Though not an angel, he had a strong will of his own and strong-willed persons occasionally came into contact with authority.


In 1901 Buckingham, together with a number of other boys, left the Cottage Homes to join the Army and in November of that year joined the 2nd Bn, Leicester Regt. Giving his occupation as a tailor he was 15 years 9 months old, just over 5 feet 2ins tall and gave his next of kin as his brother, Frederick Buckingham. With his battalion he saw service in Guernsey, Belgium, Madras and Rhamiket, and was stationed in India when war began. The Leicesters moved to France, disembarking at Marseilles on 12 October 1914, and fought in France with the Indian Corps throughout the winter. At Givenchy, on 19 December, Buckingham’s name was among those brought to the special attention of the Corps Commander, Gen. Willcocks, in his case ‘for great gallantry’.


Buckingham returned to Countesthorpe when on leave, and was convalescing from his injuries received at Neuve Chapelle (a packet of postcards in his pocket deflected a bullet which might otherwise have caused serious injury.) in late April when the news of his award was published in the newspapers. He had no idea he had been recommended for the VC so was surprised when Mr Harrison arrived at his cottage with the newspaper, asking him for his regimental number (6276) so that he could confirm that the William Buckingham in the paper was the same boy he had brought up.


A modest man, Buckingham said little about his experiences and it was only during a meeting with Cpl Tarry, one of the men he rescued at Neuve Chapelle, that more details emerged. The two men met at a garden party for wounded soldiers, given by Mrs Abel Smith of Coleorton Hall. The corporal related how, after he had been wounded, Buckingham had carried him out of the firing line under heavy fire, thus saving his life. Buckingham was persuaded to recount a further story of Neuve Chapelle:





During the battle, I came upon a badly wounded German soldier. One of his legs had been blown off. He was lying right in the fire zone. His piteous appeal for help – well, I rendered first-aid as well as I could, and just carried him to a place of safety. Of course, I did what I could for others too, but really it’s not worth talking about.





Mr and Mrs Harrison accompanied Buckingham when he went to receive his award from the King on 4 June 1915, and Mrs Harrison’s scrap-book contained many newspaper cuttings of him, including a photograph of Buckingham proudly showing his award to the Harrisons outside Buckingham Palace. Much was made in the Press of ‘Leicester’s Own VC’ as he was nicknamed, and the Mayor of Leicester presented him with a ‘purse of gold’ and £100 of War Loan Stock donated by the Leicester Board of Guardians. Buckingham’s response to this presentation was a simple salute, as he explained in a later letter of thanks:





As a soldier not used to speaking in public, I regret I could not publicly return thanks at Countesthorpe for the handsome gift you were good enough to make on behalf of the citizens of Leicester; but I can assure you that I value it most highly, and if I am spared to my native town after the war, I shall come back to it with feelings of warm affection.





He remained in England for recruiting purposes before returning to France on 13 April 1916; appointed acting corporal at the end of this month he joined the 1st Leicesters in May and reverted to the rank of private at his own request on 21 May 1916. Buckingham was killed at Thiepval on 15 September 1916, while serving as orderly to Capt. R.W. Mosse of the 1st Leicesters in the Battle of the Somme. Capt. Mosse broke the news of Buckingham’s death to the Leicester Board of Guardians in a letter, in which he wrote that it would be ‘impossible to replace him’. As Buckingham’s body was not recovered, his name appears on the Thiepval Memorial to the Missing.


It was only after the award of his VC was announced that Buckingham’s mother was discovered to be still living, and in the Register of the Thiepval Memorial to the Missing, Mrs A. Buckingham was shown as living at 35 York Street, Bedford. On the 1911 Census Annie Buckingham, 45, is described as a widow and as living with her mother and son, Frederick Billington (23) at 37 York Street, Bedford.


Amongst his army papers is Army Form 5080, a statement of living relatives of a deceased soldier and is dated May 1919. The information supplied by the solicitors for the executors of William Buckingham is interesting because the father of the soldier is recorded as William John Buckingham, not heard of for years, no full blood siblings but a half blood brother as Fred Billington, age 29, 10290 16th Lancers.


In his memory a ‘Buckingham Memorial Fund’ was set up, and still exists, managed by a committee in Leicester. Buckingham Road, Countesthorpe was named after him in 1986 and a metal plaque set into a rock to mark it as a memorial. A late addition, the name of W BUCKINGHAM, was made to Countesthorpe War Memorial in 1986. His VC and other medals were in the possession of the Countesthorpe Cottage Homes until 1958 when the Homes were closed. The medals were then passed for safe-keeping to the City Children’s Committee of the Child Welfare Department, Leicester, where they remained until 1966. The medals are now on loan to the Leicestershire Regimental Museum in Leicester.




J. RIVERS


Neuve Chapelle, France, 12 March
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The first of three Victoria Crosses won by the 8th Division at Neuve Chapelle was another posthumous award, this time to Pte Jacob Rivers, 1st Bn Sherwood Foresters (Notts and Derby Regt), for bombing actions on 12 March.


Only two days before, the 1st Sherwood Foresters, 24th Bde, 8 Div., had been in divisional reserve. The battalion moved forward during the morning of the 11th, and after a long wait were ordered to attack at 17.30 hours in the direction of Piètre. Their advance of about 1,000 yards was halted by machine-gun fire from a group of houses north-west of Piètre, known as Nameless Cottages. This machine-gun strongpoint (Stützpunkte) was occupied during the initial artillery bombardment by 12th Coy, 13th Regt. The Sherwood Foresters entrenched along the Mauquissart Road, its left company in an orchard, centre companies astride a sunken lane and the right company at the Sign Post Lane junction.


Enemy shelling inflicted several casualties on the battalion early on the 11th and during the morning C Coy attacked and occupied some ruined houses on the left. At about 16.00 hours an attack was mounted by D Coy but heavy machine-gun fire halted the assault. These machine-guns sited in another Stützpunkte were positioned to defend the bridge over the River Layes, which had been occupied and reinforced by the Germans during the previous night.


By the night of 11 March the battalion held two wrecked farmhouses and a connecting trench line which formed a pronounced salient 100 yards forward of the British lines, later named The Duck’s Bill (see map on page 174). Before dawn German artillery fire was directed onto the new British line and the battalion was attacked by the 21st Bavarian Regt. A trench on the left flank was completely overwhelmed, and fierce hand-to-hand fighting took place in the courtyard and rooms of the left-hand farmhouse; only eight defenders escaped. In the semi-darkness and early morning mist, the British troops had mistaken the Bavarians for the listening patrol they were expecting to return; this enabled the enemy to get within 50 yards. The main German attack was made on the right of the battalion and although a machine-gun sited in the second farm inflicted severe losses on the enemy, the battalion was forced to retire. Pte Jacob Rivers got very close to the enemy on the battalion’s right flank and bombed them with such ferocity that the Germans there were forced to retire. The citation was published in the London Gazette of 28 April 1915 and included the following description: ‘Private Rivers performed a second act of bravery on the same day, again causing the enemy to retire. He was killed on this occasion.’


The second bombing action, which cost Rivers his life, probably occurred between 06.30 and 07.00 hours when the battalion and units on either side counter-attacked, driving the Germans back to their trenches and leaving over 400 dead between the battalion’s front and support trenches.


The battalion was withdrawn during the evening, but not before casualties were inflicted by British artillery fire. It was a very costly battle: out of the 18 officers who went into action on the 10th, 9 were killed and 7 wounded; other ranks suffered losses of 90 killed (including Rivers), 265 wounded and 87 missing.


Rivers’ VC was presented to his mother by King George V at Buckingham Palace on 29 November 1916; this was a moving ceremony, for on the same day a number of other posthumous VCs, all awarded for actions in 1915, were presented to relatives.


Rivers’ grave was lost in later fighting and his name is commemorated, together with those of 237 other members of the Notts and Derby Regt, on the Le Touret Memorial to the Missing at Richebourg-l’Avoué.
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Jacob Rivers was born on 17 November 1881, at Bridgegate, Derby, and had two brothers and four sisters. Little is known of his early life and schooling. He enlisted in the Royal Scots Fusiliers on 3 June 1899 and with this regiment he served in India and Burma for seven years before being discharged to the Reserve on 3 June 1907. He was a reservist for five years.


When war began Rivers was employed as a labourer on a ballast train by the Midland Railway Company at Derby, but he soon volunteered for the Army, joining the 1st Sherwood Foresters on 18 August 1914. He went to France on 11 Dec 1914 and, although he was involved with his regiment in several actions prior to Neuve Chapelle, he said little of this in his few letters home.


After his death a brass tablet in his memory was placed in St Alkmund’s Mission Room at Bridge Street, Derby (this plaque was moved to the south wall of St Alkmunds Church in about 1967 when the Mission Hall was demolished), but his name does not appear on the Derby War Memorial. In 1923 the Freedom of Derby was conferred upon his mother, Mrs Adeline Rivers. She was in distinguished company as at the same time both Lord Haig and the Duke of Devonshire were similarly honoured. Mrs Rivers died in Derby on 1 March 1937, her funeral service being held at St Barnabas’ Church on 4 March followed by interment at Nottingham Road Cemetery. In addition to the family, other mourners included Capt. Warmer (who as a lance-corporal had served as a stretcher-bearer at Neuve Chapelle) and Pte R. Hardy, who was awarded the Croix de Guerre for bringing up ammunition although wounded, also at Neuve Chapelle.


In accordance with Mrs Rivers’ wishes, her son’s VC was given to his regiment and on 7 April 1937, at the regimental depot, Rivers’ sister, Mrs Elizabeth Potter, wearing her brother’s medal ribbons, made the presentation. After passing the medal case to Maj.-Gen. Sir Frederick Maurice, Mrs Potter made a short speech in which she expressed pleasure in carrying out her mother’s wishes, also thanking the regiment for their offer to erect a stone to the memory of her mother and brother. Following the ceremony the civil and military dignitaries lunched in the Officers’ Mess while Mrs Potter and her relatives were only accorded the privilege of lunch in the Sergeants’ Mess.


Jacob Rivers’ medals are held by the Sherwood Foresters Museum, Nottingham. On 7 May 2010 a splendid memorial was dedicated to Nottinghamshire’s twenty recipients of the VC. Positioned in the grounds of Nottingham Castle, the memorial includes amongst its list of names that of Jacob Rivers VC.




W. ANDERSON


Neuve Chapelle, France, 12 March


[image: images]





At about the same time as Pte Rivers was throwing his bombs, Cpl William Anderson, 2nd Bn, Yorkshire Regt, was also handling these unreliable weapons to great effect less than half a mile away.


The 2nd Yorkshire Regt (The Green Howards), 21st Bde, 7th Division, was not involved in the initial IV Corps attack. The battalion moved up to the Rue de Tilleloy at about 09.00 hours, enemy machine-gun fire inflicting a few casualties as the men crossed the open ground. A long wait then ensued, with only a small move forward, until the main advance at 18.00 hours. The light was fading, the ground was criss-crossed with ditches and trenches, many of which were half-full of water, and the whole area was congested with advancing troops; unsurprisingly, slow progress was made before the battalion was checked by fire from two strong German positions.
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